
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact: Julie Britton

Direct Dial: 01362 656343

e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Tuesday, 3 July 2018

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 12th July, 2018 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific questions, 
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days 
before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this will be 
provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack





Council
12 July 2018

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 6 - 13
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17 May 2018.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 14 - 15

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. CABINET MINUTES 16 - 22
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 June 2018.

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION To Follow
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 31 May 2018.

10. PLANNING COMMITTEE 
To confirm the following Minutes:

a) Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 8 May 
2018

23 - 33

b) Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 4 June 
2018

34 - 45

11. GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 46 - 56
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting held on 
12 June 2018.



Council
12 July 2018

Page(s)
herewith

12. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 

To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

1. Overview and Scrutiny Commission

To appoint a Conservative Member in place of Councillor Lynda Turner.

2. Outside Body Appointment

Norfolk Countywide Community Safety Partnership Scrutiny Sub Panel – 
substitute required

13. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

14. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

15. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED  

16. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMISSION (PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL 
MINUTES) 

To Follow

Unconfirmed Private & Confidential Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission meeting held on 31 May 2018.

17. BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 57 - 73
Report of Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation, Councillor 
Adrian Stasiak.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 17 May 2018 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S. Askew
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Councillor E. Gould
Mrs T. Hewett
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank (Chairman)
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr I. Sherwood
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs L.S. Turner
Mrs A M Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By
Opening Remarks  

The out-going Chairman, Councillor Kate Millbank presented a cheque to her 
nominated charity Action for Pulmonary Fibrosis; throughout her year as 
Chairman she had raised £4006.70.  Mr Steve Jones, the Chairman of Action for 
Pulmonary Fibrosis was in attendance to receive the cheque and said a few 
words about the charity and support they offered. He thanked the Chairman for 
selecting the charity and for the huge amount of money that had been raised.

The outgoing Chairman went on to say that she had had a great year with many 
highlights.  Since the last meeting her own civic service had been held and she 
thanked all who came to support her in that event.  She went onto thank Alex 
Elliott who had been her treasured helper throughout the year, and to Julie 
Britton and the rest of the Democratic Services Team for their support during 
Council meetings and generally.  She added that it had been a great pleasure 

Public Document Pack

5

Agenda Item 2



Council
17 May 2018

2

Action By
being the Chairman of Breckland Council and wished her successor every 
success for the ensuing year.

63/18CHAIRMAN 

Nominations were invited.

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
made it was RESOLVED that Councillor Richard Duffield be appointed Chairman 
of the Council for the ensuing year.

Councillor Duffield signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office.

Councillor Duffield in the Chair.

64/18VICE-CHAIRMAN 

It was proposed and seconded that Councillor Lynda Turner be appointed Vice 
Chairman for the ensuing year.

It was RESOLVED that Councillor Lynda Turner be appointed Vice-Chairman for 
the ensuing year.

Councillor Turner signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office.

65/18VOTE OF THANKS TO THE OUTGOING CHAIRMAN 

The new Chairman thanked Councillor Millbank for the marvellous job she had 
done throughout the year in representing Breckland. 

Councillor Crawford added that Councillor Millbank had been an excellent 
representative for the Council.  

On behalf of the Labour Party, Councillor Jermy congratulated Councillor Millbank 
on how she had raised awareness of her charity and should be commended on the 
large sum of money raised for the charity.

Councillor Claussen added that it had been clearly demonstrated at her Civic 
Service the work she had carried out throughout the district over the past year and 
thanked her for that. 

66/18APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Hewett, Martin, L 
Monument, W Richmond and Wassell.

67/18MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 2018 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

68/18DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

6



Council
17 May 2018

3

Action By
69/18CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman informed Members that he would be raising funds for the locally 
based charity ‘The Big C’ during his term of office.  The disease had affected a 
number of his friends and family and he intended to raise as much as he could to 
support the work of this deserving charity.  The Big C provided a lifeline of practical 
and emotional support to those that had been diagnosed with cancer.

He went onto say that he had recently attended the civic reception of the Chairman 
of the South Holland District Council and had also attended the Queen’s garden 
party at Buckingham Palace.

70/18LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Leader highlighted what the Council had achieved over the past year which 
included:

 A balanced budget, removing reliance on the Rate Support Grant (RSG) 
and had also taken out of the budget £1.7m New Homes Bonus to enable 
spend on sustainable community projects going forward.  

 The launch of the Market Town Initiative that provided support and finance 
to the five market towns within the district to enable them to be sustainable 
and vibrant places for residents to use.  

 The launch of Shop-Appy across some market towns with an additional 
launch in Thetford on the 18 May.  

 Implementation of the local lottery fund which would support local 
communities and projects to raise their local funding across the District. 

 By working in partnership with The Norfolk Community Foundation, 
£250,000 had gone back into the communities by supporting grants across 
the district.

 Over £1million had been committed to providing enough temporary 
accommodation across the district and to ensure significant resource within 
the Officer team was available to support this.

 The Council had won The Municipal Journal Local Government 
Achievement Award for Commercialisation and Property Estate which 
enabled the Council to keep the Council Tax low by investing and managing 
the property well.

 £10m secured funding from the Government from the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund for in and around Thetford which was hoped would be 
the catalyst for the Sustainable Urban Extension.

 £2.65m had been secured for Snetterton Power which was a great initiative 
for the Council to have achieved

 £300k had been received from the Ministry for Housing and Infrastructure 
project, which would be used for housing in Shipdham.

 Working collaboratively with two Town Councils to implement car park 
enforcement across the market towns.

Councillor Jermy asked the Leader what he thought would be the challenges in the 
year ahead, and what he had been frustrated with over the last year.  The Leader 
said found delays in delivery frustrating, but he would continue to strive to ensure 
that policies would be fit for purpose, and to remove red-tape to allow 
implementation as soon as possible.

Councillor Brindle added that following the plans for future significant growth within 
Thetford and Attleborough asked what consideration had been given to providing 
long-term parking as this was essential to the towns. The Leader said car parking 

7



Council
17 May 2018

4

Action By
within the towns would always be a challenge, however surveys had been carried 
out on each of the market town car parks and would be discussed with Town 
Council colleagues to consider the options going forward.

71/18QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

None.

72/18QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

Councillor Jermy had carried out a tour of his ward and noted 20 incidents of fly-
tipping.  He noted that fly-tipping was in the increase not only in quantity, but also 
in volume.  He asked the Executive Member of Place how many people across the 
District had been prosecuted for fly-tipping over the last 12 months, and if it was a 
low figure what actions would be taken to address the fly-tipping issues.  
The Executive Member of Place said there had been no prosecutions over the last 
12 months.  The difficulty was in obtaining evidence and if anyone had such 
evidence he asked that it be provided to enable Breckland to carry out the 
prosecutions.  In the meantime, if fly-tipping had been reported it would be cleared 
by Breckland.  He added that the new glutton machine (a large vacuum cleaner), 
had been purchased which enabled access to small alleyways and corners to help 
clean up areas within the towns.
The Leader of the Council felt that consideration should be given to the root cause 
and whilst prosecution would act as a deterrent it could be hard to prove that a fly-
tip had taken place.  He believed the onus was on everyone to tackle the problem 
head-on.

Councillor Clarke also asked the Executive Member of Place what steps were in 
place to ensure that it was easy for residents to report fly-tipping.  It was confirmed 
that the ‘Report it’ function was available on the website for residents to report 
issues of fly-tipping.  

Councillor Joel highlighted that more shops and banks were closing in the market 
towns across the District and asked the Leader of the Council if Breckland were 
considering consultation with Landlords to discuss what would happen with those 
sites.  The Leader explained how the Council could use local intelligence from ward 
members and Town Councils to discuss and share issues within the Towns, and 
would do all it could to use the Market Town Initiative to assist the towns.

Councillor Brindle said that following the bank holiday weekend, additional rubbish 
had been discarded in Thetford as the bins were too full.  He asked the Executive 
Member of Place what efforts were being made to ensure the responsibilities of 
Serco were carried out, in particular picking up litter before the grass is cut, and for 
the Bank holidays that additional areas for rubbish could be considered. The 
Executive Member for Place said that collecting the litter before cutting the grass 
had been raised before, and should be happening, but if this was not the case it 
should be reported.  In addition he would ensure that their responsibilities would be 
met in a proper fashion.  The Leader added that again, it was important to 
understand why individuals simply dumped the rubbish for others to collect, and felt 
that further education was needed to stop residents littering.

Councillor Crawford added the litter pick recently held in Thetford had been 
successful and asked if the Council would be advertising future dates for litter-
picking.  It was confirmed by the Executive Member for Place that all future dates 
of litter picks would be advertised on the Council’s website.

8



Council
17 May 2018

5

Action By
Councillor R Richmond asked the Executive Member for Growth that following the 
recent news regarding large developers possibly building properties that were 
defective; what were the Planning department doing to avoid any issues.  The 
Executive Member of Growth said that through Building Control, systems were in 
place but he would also raise the issue.  

Councillor Oliver asked the Leader of the Council if Members would be receiving 
information relating to the new General Data Protection Regulations, particularly 
with regard to explicit consents.  The Executive Manager for Governance said work 
was underway on all of the Data Protection issues that affected the Council 
including the elements that affected elected Members.  Documentation such as 
privacy notices that dealt with Member ward issues and a set of frequently asked 
questions would be circulated to Members shortly.

73/18CABINET MINUTES 

Councillor T Monument highlighted minor spelling errors within the minutes which 
were noted.

RESOLVED that subject to the amendments, the unconfirmed minutes of the 
Cabinet meeting held on 1 May 2018 be adopted.

74/18OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

Councillor Crawford highlighted the fact that he had been marked as in attendance 
as well as marked as absent and asked for this to be corrected.

Councillor Dimoglou mentioned that the minute reference 39/18 was incorrect, but 
that this would be discussed at the next meeting of the Commission.  The 
Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny confirmed that the minutes were unconfirmed, 
and would be discussed at the next meeting 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny meeting 
held on the 19 April be adopted subject to these changes.

75/18PLANNING COMMITTEE 

RESOLVED that the confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 9 April 2018 be adopted.

76/18COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority meeting held on 28 March 2018 be adopted.

77/18LICENSING COMMITTEE 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting 
held on the 28 March 2018 be adopted.

78/18APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES AND OTHER REPRESENTATIVES AND 
CHAIRMEN AND VICE CHAIRMEN 2018-2019 

The Executive Manager for Governance presented the annual report to approve 
the appointments of Councillors to Committees and to appoint the Chairmen and 
Vice-Chairmen for the ensuing year.

9



Council
17 May 2018

6

Action By

The Executive Manager for Governance reported on the following changes that 
had been notified to him:

Planning Committee – Councillor Sharpe would step down as Vice-Chairman and 
Councillor W Richmond would be his replacement.

Councillor Wilkin thanked Councillor Sharpe for his input into the Planning 
Committee as Vice-Chairman.

RESOLVED that, subject to the above change to current appointments:

1. the Council appoints for 2018-2019 the Committees and Panels as set out 
in Appendix A of the report be adopted; and

2. the Council approved the re-appointment the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 
of those Committees and Panels.

79/18ANNUAL REPORT AND APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2018/19 

The Executive Manager for Governance presented the annual report, and informed 
Members that all outside bodies had been contacted to seek updated information 
such as aims and objectives, as well as insurance arrangements. 

Subject to the following changes which were read out by the Executive Manager for 
Governance, it was RESOLVED that the Council re-appoint its existing 
representatives to serve on the list of Outside bodies as outlined in Appendix A be 
adopted:

a) Norfolk County Playing Fields Association – Councillor Rogers to be 
replaced by Councillor T Hewett

b) Norfolk Joint Museums and Archaeology Committee – Councillor Harry 
Clarke to be replaced by Councillor R Kybird.

80/18APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON - STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS 

The Executive Manager for Governance explained that the Localism Act 2011 
required that the Council’s Standards Arrangements included at least one 
Independent Person who would be consulted during Standard investigations.  The 
previous Independent Person had tendered her resignation, and a competitive 
recruitment process had been followed to identify a replacement.  Members were 
asked to approve the appointment of Mr B Davis. 

RESOLVED that Mr Bob Davis be appointed as “Independent Person” under 
Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011, until the annual Council meeting in May 
2019.

81/18HR POLICY HANDBOOK ADDITIONS -CAREER BREAK 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation presented the new Career Break policy as an addition to the HR 
Policy Handbook.  He thanked the Overview and Scrutiny Commission for their 
input into the policy and their recommendations which had been taken into account 
and included within the Policy. 

10



Council
17 May 2018

7

Action By
It was RESOLVED that the Career Break policy be approved.

82/18CONSTITUTION VARIATIONS 

Members were reminded by the Executive Member for Governance that the 
Constitution had been reviewed in January 2016. 

The Monitoring Officer had delegated authority to make minor amendments to the 
constitution such as correcting grammatical errors and making minor variations, 
details of which were outlined in the report. 

In addition, a number of proposed variations were set out within the report: 
- Clarifying the jurisdiction of proper officers and removing anomalies; 
- a slight amendment to officer delegation in respect of disciplinary and 

capability procedure;
- an amendment to the definition of planning applications following to a recent 

change in the law.

RESOLVED that:

1) The minor variations made by the Monitoring Officer and listed in paragraph 
1.2 of the report be endorsed and continue to have effect.

2) The Monitoring Officer be authorised to amend Part 3 Section F1 of the 
Constitution to make it clear that where more than one officer is identified 
as a proper officer then each officer is a proper officer for matters falling 
within his/her respective jurisdiction.

3) That Part 3, Section F1, paragraph 15 of the Constitution be amended in 
accordance with paragraph 1.3 of the report.

4) That the staffing delegations in Part 3, Section F1 of the constitution be 
amended in accordance with paragraph 1.5 of the report.

5) That the definition of Planning Applications set out in Part 3, Section F3 of 
the Constitution be amended to include reference to the new form of 
planning application – application for planning permission in principle and 
technical details.

83/18ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

None.

84/18EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 
on the grounds that it involves the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

85/18SNETTERTON POWER SCHEME - GRANT APPROVALS 

Approval was sought to accept two external grant funding offers to the Council 
(subject to the conditions of grant being considered acceptable) that will allow the 
continuation of a project to enable the delivery of a new and enlarged power supply 
for the Snetterton Heath employment area.

11



Council
17 May 2018

8

Action By

In view of the urgent timescales attached to the grant, the Council had undertaken 
an assessment of procurement options and subject to satisfactory legal advice had 
identified the opportunity to apply an exemption to the procurement procedure 
rules.  This had been approved by the Cabinet on 1 May 2018.

RESOLVED that the acceptance of the grants be approved in accordance with the 
terms of the report.

The meeting closed at 11.10 am

CHAIRMAN

12



Engagement List – Chairman

17 May – 11 July 2018

Date Event Host

18 May 2018 Mayor Making, Freedom of the Town & 
Civic Reception

Mayor-Elect of Thetford

Cllr Roy Brame

24 May 2018 An Evening of Celebration Norfolk Wildlife Trust

21 June 2018 Beat Retreat Display & Concert Royal British Legion Cllr Anne Thorp & 
Mayor of Swaffham Cllr Colin Houghton

25 June 2018 Armed Forces Day – Flag Raising Chairman of Breckland Council

28 June 2018 Sunset Ceremony Mayor of St Edmundsbury,

Cllr Margaret Marks

 & 6 Regiment AAC CO Lt Col Marcus 
Brown

30 June 2018 Speech Day Governors & Headteacher Wymondham 
College

4 July 2018 Wisbech Rose Fair Gala Canon Matthew Bradbury

Priest-in-charge & Rural Dean

7 July 2018 Lord Mayor’s Celebrations Lord Mayor of Norwich, Cllr Martin 
Schmierer & Sheriff of Norwich, Ros 

Brown

13

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List - Vice-Chairman

17 May – 11 July 2018

Date Event Host

10 June 2018 Civic Service marking the Mayoralty of 
Cllr Nick Daubney

Cllr Nick Daubney

13 June 2018 President’s Sporting Club Experience 
Day

Parkwood Leisure

25 June 2018 Armed Forces Day – Flag Raising Chairman of Breckland Council

7 July 2018 Festival of Thetford & Punjab Essex Cultural Diversity Project & 
Norfolk Museums Services

& Deputy Mayor of Thetford, Cllr 
Brenda Canham

14



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 12 June 2018 at 10.00 am in
Attleborough Town Council, Town Hall, Queens Square, Attleborough, Norfolk, NR17 

2AF

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin

In Attendance
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By

55/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2018, together with the restricted 
minutes, were confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 

56/18 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Nunn and Webb.

57/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

58/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

59/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, M Chapman-Allen, Joel and Martin.  The Vice-Chairman 

Public Document Pack

15

Agenda Item 8



Cabinet
12 June 2018

2

Action By

welcomed members of the public in attendance.

60/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Vice-Chairman shared the news that Cliff Jordan had sadly passed away 
after a short period of illness.  He was a Norfolk man, who did a lot of work for 
Breckland in particular, and encouraged local democracy through all tiers of 
local government.  He would be sadly missed.  

61/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Large Match Funding Application - Parochial Church Council of the 
Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford  

The Executive Member for Place explained that the application outlined 
how the church would like to carry out a range of works within the church 
hall and the church to expand its use to allow more community functions 
within the buildings.  It would include providing a fully equipped kitchen to 
allow a range of food related services such as providing meals during 
school holidays for children who receive free meals during term time, and 
provision of a soup kitchen for the homeless.

Councillor Martin queried that funding had been secured from a number of 
charities, and asked that as the building was a community asset of Thetford 
Town Council why there was no mention of a contribution from them.  

Councillor Robinson spoke as a member of the Thetford Town Council and 
was not aware of an application being received, but encouraged the 
applicant to put one forward.

Options
1) Fully fund the application set out in the report
2) Part fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme. This is project which 
although being delivered by a church is strongly focused on delivering 
community activity and benefit. The project appears to be well planned and 
led, and fundraising is well advanced. The project also responds well to the 
identified needs in Thetford. The assessor gave some consideration to the 
potential for overlap between this project and the recently funded project at 
the Charles Burrell Centre to increase opportunities for work experience. 
However the assessor concluded that the Thetford PCC’s focus on catering 
training means that this project is complementary to the Charles Burrell 
project.

RESOLVED that the grant award of £19,817 (or 8.1% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to the Parochial Church Council of the 
Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford to update facilities to make the church 
more suitable for community activities be approved.

 (b) Large Grant Funding Application - Holme Hale Playing Field trust  

The Executive Member for Place presented the report and pointed out how 

16



Cabinet
12 June 2018

3

Action By

the Playing Field Trust had consulted with local residents about the 
projects.  The contribution was sought towards the cost of upgrading 
equipment on the playing field.

Options
1) Fully fund the application set out in the report
2) Part fund the application set out in the report
3) Do nothing

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

RESOLVED that the grant award of £7,500 (or 29.5% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to the Holme Hale Playing Field Trust to 
update play facilities in the village be approved.

62/18 DATA PROTECTION POLICY 

The Executive Member for Governance reminded members of the work that 
had taken place to prepare the Council for the introduction of the General 
Data Protection Regulation that took effect from 25 May 2018.

One of the key changes was the requirement for ‘accountability’ which was a 
duty to evidence compliance.  An important part of meeting that obligation 
was to have clear policies and procedures in place.  The draft Data Protection 
Policy was appended to the report together with two procedures; one for 
dealing with breaches of data protection and the other for dealing with 
requests from data subjects to exercise their rights.

The policy made it clear that it applied to the employees and members of the 
Council.  A query had been raised about the fact that Members were currently 
required by the Information Commissioner to be registered as data 
controllers.  The Executive Member for Governance had asked the Executive 
Manager for Governance to investigate this point with other authorities and 
the Local Government Association.

He asked Members to approve the current draft policy and to note that as 
queries were resolved and further guidance was received there would be the 
need to make changes to the policy and asked for delegated authority to the 
Executive Manager for Governance, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Governance to make such amendments as required.

Options
1) Approve the Policy and Procedures as written
2) Approve the Policy and Procedures with amendments
3) Do nothing.

Reasons
Approval would ensure that the Council had a fit-for-purpose Policy to assist 
in compliance with GDPR.

RESOLVED that: 
1) The new draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure 

and Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests be approved 
and adopted.

17



Cabinet
12 June 2018

4

Action By

2) That the Shared Executive Manager and Data Protection Officer be 
authorised, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Governance, to make amendments to the Policy and Procedures so 
far as is necessary to reflect legislative changes, emerging guidance 
and to incorporate links to other relevant documents.

63/18 FINANCIAL OUT-TURN 2017-18 

The Executive Member for Finance explained that variances were outlined in 
the report and said that the revenue account was in a healthy position.

He commended the recommendations to Members and asked that £1.7m be 
carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in progress.

Councillor Borrett congratulated the Finance team on producing a balanced 
budget particularly in the difficult financial climate.

Options
1) That the report and appendix be noted and that Cabinet recommends 

to Full Council that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of 
£1,694,731 be carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in 
progress.

2) That the report and appendix be noted and that changes are made 
before recommending to Full Council that the capital budgets (& 
associated funding sources) be carried forward into 2018-19 to 
support projects in progress.

Reasons
1) To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial 

position of the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities 
where necessary.

2) To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new 
financial year.

RESOLVED that:
1) That the report and appendix be noted.

RECOMMEND to Full Council:

2) that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,694,731 be 
carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in progress be approved;

3) that the final capital out-turn and funding for 2017-18 as detailed in 
appendix B be approved.

64/18 Q4 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation presented the report which had recently been to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission.  He was pleased to report that Quarter four 
performance had been assessed as ‘good’.

18



Cabinet
12 June 2018

5

Action By

The areas of improvement included the number of complaints upheld or 
partially upheld was slightly over target at 28% in the reporting period 
however this was an improvement from the previous quarter.  The 
commercial property occupancy rates had fallen under 90% and work was 
being undertaken to seek alternatives to allow commercial return to be 
achieved.

Members noted the content of the report.

65/18 COMMUNITY RESERVE PROTOCOL 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation outlined that Members agreed the establishment of a 
Community Reserve to support projects and initiatives in Breckland.  The 
fund had been generated by the removal of the Council’s reliance on the New 
Homes Bonus from the general fund.  The report outlined the protocol on how 
the funds could be allocated and the criteria that would be used to deliver the 
benefits to the community.  

Members were asked to note that £250,000 would be ring-fenced to allow 
ongoing investment of the Market Town Initiative.

The report outlined the parameters for how the community reserve would be 
spent, rather than specific projects or initiatives.  Members were asked that 
any proposals for initiatives should be submitted to the relevant Executive 
Director by 22 June.

Councillor Borrett supported the idea and added that Breckland had a history 
of investing in the community in order to produce a good return for the 
Council and increase the attractiveness of the area which members 
represent.  

The Executive Member for Finance suggested that it could be an opportunity 
for Members to consider how rural communities accessed health facilities. 

Options
1) Do nothing 

2) Agree the protocols around what the newly established Community 
Reserve can be used for as set out in this report. 

Reasons
By utilising the Community Reserve as set out in the report would bring 
significant benefits to both the Council and the residents. It would enable the 
council to invest in its community in a sustainable way that would bring long 
term financial benefits through either additional income or cost reduction. It 
would benefit residents by improving skills and income levels across the 
district.

The Council had already made the decision to establish the Community 
Reserve. The budget for 2018-19 had made a provision that the money would 
be spent and Council Tax rates had been set taking this into account. By not 
spending the reserve the Council would have in affect set its Council tax rates 
too high.

19



Cabinet
12 June 2018

6

Action By

RESOLVED that:

1) The protocols around how the Community Reserve could be used as set 
out in the report be approved.

RECOMMEND to full Council:

2) The sum of £250,000 be ring-fenced from the Community Reserve to be 
used by the Market Town Initiative and this to be agreed  in line with the 
Council’s Financial Regulations.

66/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 24 July at 9.30am in the 
Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham were noted.

67/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

68/18 BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

Members were updated on the annual performance of the partnership with 
Land Group LLP that delivered property development schemes on council 
owned property assets.

Options
1) Cabinet recommends to Council to approve the updated Breckland 

Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2018-2023 as set out in appendices A to 
D.

2) Cabinet does not recommend to Council to approve the updated 
Breckland Bridge Ltd initial Business Plan for 2017-2022 as set out in 
appendices A to D. 

Reasons
Overall performance of activity is good.  The Riverside project is now 
complete having started in 2015 and reaching completion in October 2016.  
Breckland Bridge Ltd successfully delivered this scheme on time and as per 
the authorised budget.  The second project, Mileham Phase 1 houses are 
constructed and all sold or under offer and the scheme is reporting a surplus 
overall.  The third project in Attleborough has achieved planning permission 
and is planned for delivery within the first five year period of the partnership.  
All project activity is due to complete by 2019 and therefore within the first 5 
year period of the partnership as planned.

Subject to the risks identified which continue to be monitored the overall 
return to the Council is still positive in terms of regeneration and financial 
outturn.  

RESOLVED to Recommend to full Council to approve the updated 
Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2018 - 2023.

20



Cabinet
12 June 2018

7

Action By

69/18 INTER AUTHORITY AGREEMENT – WASTE SERVICES 

Members were asked to consider approving the key terms of a draft 
agreement that needed to be in place between the three authorities that were 
participating in a joint procurement, and to grant delegated authority to the 
Executive Director for Strategy and Governance (in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Place) to approve any final 
amendments, complete the agreement, and to commission legal support and 
subsequently approve further documents related to the procurement.

Options
1) Proceed with the joint procurement but do not approve the IAA. 

2) Do not proceed with the joint procurement and do not approve the 
IAA.

3) Proceed with the procurement and approve the IAA.

Reasons
To enable the procurement to proceed jointly with the three Authorities.

It was RESOLVED that  Members approved the recommendations as set out 
in the report to approve the key provisions of the Inter-Authority Agreement, 
allocate funds for the commissioning of legal support and grant the necessary 
delegations (in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Executive Member 
for Place) to approve contractual and procurement documents.

The meeting closed at 10.55 am

CHAIRMAN

21



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 8 May 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr F.J. Sharpe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr K. Martin

Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)
Mr M. J. Nairn (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou (Ward 
Representative)
Mr R.W. Duffield (Ward 
Representative)

Mrs L.H. Monument (Ward Representative)
Mr W.H.C. Smith (Ward Representative)
Mrs A. M. Webb (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Alex Chrusciak Director of Planning and Building Control
Tom Donnelly Planning Assistant
Fiona Hunter Senior DM Planner
Natalie Levett Senior Development Management Planner
Debi Sherman Principal DM Planner
Donna Smith Senior DM Planner
Simon Wood Business Manager
Mandy Cunnington Technical Support Officer
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer
Nikki Fonseka Legal Advisor

Action By
48/18MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 9 April 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

49/18APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Brame, Duigan, 
Hollis and Joel.

Councillors Darby and Nairn were in attendance as substitutes.

50/18DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

51/18CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

22

Agenda Item 10a



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

52/18REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Agenda item 10(l) - Narborough 3PL/2017/0869/F – had been withdrawn.

53/18URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

54/18LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Examination in Public had begun mid-April 2018, week 2 of the Hearing 
sessions would commence on 9 May 2018.  All sessions were being held at 
Elizabeth House.

55/18DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Noted.

(a) Dereham: Land West of Etling View: Reference: 3PL/2015/1045/O  

Residential development of up to 62 dwellings and all associated works.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Cllr Richmond requested that the Internal Drainage Board (IDB) be given the 
opportunity to act as the Nominated Body as defined in the S106 agreement and 
take on responsibility for the surface water drainage features.  
 
Written representations were read aloud and further representations had been 
received as set out in the supplementary agenda (page 300).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representatives: Councillors Alison Webb and 
Linda Monument

Dereham Town Council: Tony Needham

Applicant: Daniel Hewitt (on behalf of 
the applicant)

Drainage Consultant: Mr Geddi’s

Objector: Paul Walmsley (representing 
SavetheNeatherd)

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 2 for approval as recommended; subject to:

1) the completion of a Section 106 Agreement;
2) the conditions as listed in the report; and
3) incorporating a requirement for the clearance of the ditches 

23



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

(clearance by hand) within the Applicant’s land ownership as part of 
the Construction Ecological Management Plan condition.

56/18BILLINGFORD AND SWANTON MORLEY:  BILLINGFORD LAKES, ELMHAM 
ROAD: REFERENCE: 3PL/2016/0533/H 

Erection of a visitor’s centre and change of use of land for campsite, outdoor 
recreation and centre with associated works and outline permission for 8 holiday 
lodges.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Simon Wood, Business 
Manager.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Further representations had been received including a letter from George 
Freeman MP that had been circulated via email to all Committee Members and 
read out in the meeting by the Committee Chairman. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Applicant: Bridget Hall

Solicitor: Jay Mehta (Howes Percival)

Swanton Morley Parish Council: Brenda O’Dowd

Hoe & Worthing Parish Council: Trevor Wood

Objectors: John Labouchere, Professor N 
Thorneley, Stephan Westberry, 
Barrister Andrew Parkinson 
(Landmark Chambers), Matt Payne 
(neighbouring property owner), Mike 
Davis

The Officer’s recommendation was amended verbally to suggest additional 
conditions relating to the provision of Fire Hydrants and the alteration of 
Condition 27 (Health and Safety) to include consideration of public access in the 
vicinity of pits and ponds.

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 for approval as recommended and the 
Executive Director of Place be given delegated authority to agree the 
precise content of the conditions imposed within the Decision Notice.

57/18SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

(a) Attleborough: 32 Paddock Gardens: Reference: 3PL/2018/0273/HOU  

Single storey front extension: Applicant: Mr Benjamin Andrews.

24



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(b) Beetley: Otter's Mead, Elmham Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1074/F  

Installation of 15 no. holiday lodges, 1 lodge to form reception, shop, 
toilet/changing facilities, children’s play area, wildflower meadow and associated 
landscaping: Applicant: The Mead Group Ltd.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Further representations had been received including further conditions from the 
Highways Development Management Officer (see supplementary agenda page 
302). A letter was read aloud from Councillor Robert Richmond (Ward 
Representative) raising his concerns about the application.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Richard Duffield

Beetley Parish Council: Mr Mayhew

Applicant’s Agent: Matthew Cutting

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report and subject to the additional Highways 
conditions as listed on the supplementary report.

(c) Billingford, Open Field accessed to the west of Bintree Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1613/F  

Erection of dwelling and garage: Applicant: Mrs Claire Brahimi.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Further representations had been received see supplementary agenda page 
303). 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

25



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon 
Bambridge (in support)

Applicant’s Agents: Stephan Chadwick and Jeff 
Horner

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(d) Brettenham: In a field to the north of the A1066 just to the east of Thetford: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/0150/F  

A new irrigation reservoir for agricultural purposes and horse gallops: Applicant: 
Shadwell Estate Ltd.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner. Members were advised that contrary to the 
Committee Report, the reservoir had a maximum capacity of 22,599m3.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations had been made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(e) Griston: Church Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/0773/D  

Erection of 37 dwellings and B2 industrial unit and B1 office space (Reserved 
Matters): Applicant: Norfolk Land Development Ltd.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

As a result of social housing and highways changes, amendments to the 
application had been received (see supplementary agenda page 304). 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Martin Raper

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to:

1) the conditions as listed in the report;
2) the amendments as listed in the supplementary report; and
3) an additional condition to secure the approval of a Drainage 

Strategy.

(f) Foulden: Site to East of Hythe Farmhouse, 1 Hythe Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1217/F  

26



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

New dwelling and garage: Applicant: Mr & Mrs Taff and Chantelle Taft and 
Williams.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: David Cumming

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(g) Great Ellingham: White House Farm, 97 Long Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0072/F  

New 5 bed farmhouse within garden curtilage: Applicant: Mr & Mrs Justin & 
Nesha Wilkins.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor William Smith (in 
support)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(h) Harling: Plot 10, Taylors Drift, Lopham Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/0503/F  

New 2 storey dwelling with double garage: Applicant: T & T Construction.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(i) Hockering: Meadow View, Chapel Lane: Reference: 3PL/2017/1520/O  

Proposed erection of one single storey dwelling: Applicant: Mr William Bailey.
27



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: William Bailey

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(j) Horningtoft: Apple Blossom Farm, Oxwick Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1306/CU  

Change of use from holiday cottages to residential: Applicant: Mr Philip 
Launders.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Donna Smith, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Emma Griffiths

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(k) Kenninghall: Dam Green Farm,Fersfield Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0158/VAR  

Removal of condition 3 (holiday accommodation) and variation of conditions 4 
(landscaping) and 6 (foul water drainage) on planning permission 
3PL/2011/0381. The removal of condition 3 would allow the applicants to secure 
funding to complete the buildings and rent out to local people: Applicant: Mr & 
Mrs Porter

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Emma Griffiths

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

28



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

(l) Narborough: Hill House, Narborough Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/0869/F  

This application had been withdrawn.

(m) Necton: Lawn Cottage, Chapel Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1415/O  

Demolition of single storey timber building to create a building plot for two storey 
dwelling: Applicant: Mr John Hackett.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

The applicant had submitted a response to address the objections raised by a 
neighbour (see supplementary agenda page 311).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Observer regarding drainage: Mary Rosenberg

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and subject to an additional 
condition to secure details of foul and surface drainage.

(n) Necton: Shell Field, Grove Lane: Reference: 3PL/2017/1032/F  

Erection of self-build low impact energy efficient dwelling: Applicant: Mr Richard 
Barney.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

The Chairman, as Ward Representative was in support of the application.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Richard Barney

Applicant’s Agent: Phil Hardy

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(o) Watton: Land West of Saham Road: Reference: 3OB/2017/0004/OB  

Modify the S106 Agreement on 3PL/2015/0219/F and APP/F2605/W/15/3140922 
in respect of the affordable housing table, part 2, page 18: Applicant: Hopkins 
Homes Ltd.

29



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended.

(p) Watton: Land West of Saham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0011/VAR  

Removal of condition 13 on planning permission 3PL/2015/0219/F and 
APP/F2605/W/15/3140922 – Residential development comprising the erection of 
73 dwellings together with associated open space: Applicant: Hopkins Homes 
Ltd.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Donna Smith, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A copy of the Appeal Decision had been attached for information (see 
supplementary agenda page 315)

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and a deed of variation.

(q) Whinburgh & Westfield: Willow Cottage, Dereham Road:  Reference: 
3PL/2017/1242/O  

Construction of 2 dwellings, garages and access improvement on land adjacent 
to Willow Cottage, Westfield: Applicant: Mr Barnes.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou 
(in support)

Applicant: Angela Barnes

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

30



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

(r) Whissonsett: Hamrow Farm, Colkirk Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0126/F  

New grain storage building with drying facilities and side lean-to for crop 
machinery storage: Applicant: Stangroom Bros Ltd.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Donna Smith, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: John Feakes

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(s) Whissonsett: Talbot House, London Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/0032/O  

Construction of 5 detached properties: Applicant: Mr Keith Durrant.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Further information in relation to an additional condition had been received (see 
supplementary agenda page 312)

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jerry Stone

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and the additional condition 
as set out on the supplementary agenda (page 312).

(t) Wretham: Manor Farm, Church Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0263/F  

Erection of two dwellings and garages (new build due to barn collapse): 
Applicant: Mr Matthew Freeman.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Assistant 
Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

31



Planning Committee
8 May 2018

Action By

Applicant’s Agent: David Futter

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

58/18APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

59/18APPEALS (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.10 pm

CHAIRMAN

32



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 4 June 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Mr M. P. Brindle (Substitute Member)
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr T. J. Ashby (Ward 
Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Alex Chrusciak Director of Planning and Building Control
Fiona Hunter Senior DM Planner
Natalie Levett Senior Development Management Planner
Debi Sherman Principal DM Planner
Tom Donnelly Planning Assistant
Mandy Cunnington Technical Support Officer
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 

Action By
60/18MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 May 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

61/18APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Brame and 
Clarke. 

Councillors Darby and Brindle were in attendance as substitutes.

62/18DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

The following declarations were made:

a) Swaffham: Swans Nest Site, Land East of Brandon Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1351/F (Agenda item 8(b))

Councillor Darby declared that although this application had been debated 
at a Swaffham Town Council meeting he had not taken part in the vote.

33

Agenda Item 10b



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

b) Attleborough: Land south of New Road, West of Hargham Road: 
Reference: 3PL/2017/1171/O (Agenda item 9(a))

Councillor Duigan declared a personal interest in the application due to 
him being a Member of Norfolk County Council and was aware of the 
application.

c) Narborough: Land to the west of Chalk Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2015/1180/O (Agenda item 9(h))

Councillor Wilkinson, the Ward Representative, declared that he was 
aware of this application. 

d) Formal Objection to Serving of TPO 2018 No.1 – Scarning (Agenda item 
10)

Councillor Duigan declared a prejudicial interest in this application as 
he lived in the adjacent property.  Councillor Duigan left the room whilst 
this matter was being discussed.

63/18CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

Following the annual Full Council meeting held on 17 May 2018, Councillor 
William Richmond had been appointed as Vice-Chairman of the Planning 
Committee. 

The Chairman expressed his thanks to Councillor Sharpe, the former Vice-
Chairman, for his assistance over the years and hoped that he would remain as a 
Member of the Planning Committee for the foreseeable future.

Members were reminded of the visit made by two inspectors from the Planning 
Advisory Service who attended an earlier Planning Committee meeting.  Further 
training for Members had been suggested as well as IT issues.  It was noted that 
various training dates would be coming forward in due course.
 

64/18REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The following items had been deferred:

1) Item 9(f): Hockering: Land west of Heath Road, Heath Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1574/O

Reason – to allow time for the Parish Council to consider the revised 
plans that had been submitted.

2) Item 9(m): Shipdham: The Cricket Players, Old Post Office Street: 
Reference: 3PL/2017/0864/F.

Reason – to allow time for the Local Lead Flood Authority at Norfolk 
County Council to submit their comments at a future meeting.  

65/18URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

34



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

66/18LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Members were informed that week 3 of the Hearing sessions would commence 
on 5 June 2018.  

67/18DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The schedule of deferred applications was noted.

(a) Dereham: Grange Farm, Etling Green: Reference: 3PL/2017/1281/F  

Residential development comprising demolition of existing barns and erection of 
two dwellings with annexe to plot 2 (converted building), conversion of timber 
framed barn to dwelling and retention and refurbishment of listed farmhouse and 
convert outbuildings to form annex to farmhouse.

This application was scheduled to be presented to the Planning Committee on 9th 
April 2018 but was deferred prior to the meeting to allow further investigation in to 
the registered Common Land, land ownership and associated notification 
procedures.
Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Cllr Richmond, the Vice-Chairman and a Ward Representative, requested that, if 
permission was granted, a green buffer be required at the northern site boundary 
to safeguard Shillings Lane’s rural character and that bollards be conditioned at 
the adopted highways access point to protect the Etling Green Common from any 
encroachment from vehicles entering and exiting the development site. 
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Dereham Town Council: Tony Needham

Applicant’s Agent: Anthony Pettifer

Objector: John Hale (Chairman of 
Etling Green Residents 
Assoc)

Objector: Anne Bowyer 

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval as recommended; subject to 
the conditions listed in the report; and the Director of Planning and 
Building Control be given delegated authority to agree the precise content 
of the additional and amended conditions listed below:

1) to protect the Registered Common from vehicle encroachment, no 
development shall take place until a scheme for a section of access 
bollards/timber posts between the access point from the adopted 
highway and the entrance to the Grange Farm property is submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved access bollard/timber post scheme will be implemented in 
full prior to occupation of the two new dwellings to be erected and / 

35



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

or the existing building conversions;

2) amended soft and hard landscaping conditions 7 and 8; and

3) owl boxes to be provided and installed. 

(b) Swaffham: Swans Nest Site, Land East of Brandon Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1351/F  

Erection of 97 dwellings (Phase 3) at Swans Nest with access from Brandon 
Road.

This application was scheduled to be presented to the Planning Committee on 9th 
April 2018 but was deferred prior to the meeting in order to address issues raised 
by the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA).

Councillor Darby declared that although this application was debated at a 
Swaffham Town Council meeting he did not take part in the vote.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been received as set out in the supplementary 
agenda (page 290).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Paul Le Grice (Abel Homes)

Objector: David Penny

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to:

1) the completion of a Section 106 Agreement; and
2) the conditions as listed in the report.

68/18SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

(a) Attleborough: Land south of New Road, West of Hargham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1171/O  

Residential development of 48 dwellings.

Councillor Duigan declared a personal interest in the application due to him being 
a Member of Norfolk County Council and was aware of the application.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

36



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to the 
obligations as listed in respect of the S106 Agreement.

(b) Attleborough: Post Office, High Street: Reference: 3PL/2017/1515/F  

Demolition of existing/disused single storey sorting office building to the rear of 
existing street facing post office building.

Construction of new residential development to include 5 no. 2 bedroom 
apartments and 5 no. 1 bedroom apartments, with both private communal 
amenity areas.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Tristan Ashby

Applicant’s Agent: Stephen Litten (Amari Group)

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report.

(c) Croxton: Norwich Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1576/D  

Reserved Matters application for approval of details of appearance, scale, layout, 
landscaping and detailed access works for the construction of 343 residential 
dwellings and Local Centre (incorporating Police Beat Base (Class D1), local 
food convenience store (Class A1), additional retail unit(s) (Classes A1, A2 A3 
and or A5) and local domestic recycling point)) with associated vehicle parking, 
servicing area, garages, roads, footpaths/cycleways, bus infrastructure, public 
open spaces, drainage infrastructure and other associated works in respect of 
part of Sub-Phase 1a of Outline Planning Permission 3PL/2011/0805/O (as 
amended).

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been received as set out in the supplementary 
agenda (page 291).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Robert Eburne (Hopkins 
Homes)

37



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

Objectors: Mr & Mrs P. Stebbings

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 for approval as recommended; subject to: 

1. the conditions as listed in the report; and
2. no new material matters being received as a result of the re-

consultation.

(d) Dereham: Land south of Green Farm, Yaxham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1471/O  

Residential development.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been received as set out in the supplementary 
agenda (page 292).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Anthony Pettifer

The application was deferred for a short while following concerns raised by the 
Vice-Chairman in relation to a request from Dereham Town Council in respect of 
the retention of tree T12.  However, after further investigation it was found that 
T12 was dying and unstable and was not worthy of retention.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(e) Great Ellingham: Misty Dawn, Deopham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0294/F  

Full planning permission for three detached single storey dwellings.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Erica Whettingsteel (EJW 
Planning)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

38



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

(f) Hockering: Land west of Heath Road, Heath Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1574/O  

This item had been deferred (see Minute No. 64/18 above)

(g) Mattishall: Land Adj at Daryll Farm Mill Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0252/F  

Proposed dwelling and garage.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been received as set out in the supplementary 
agenda (pages 296-7).  A statement from Councillor Paul Claussen, a Ward 
Representative for Mattishall, in support of the application was read aloud.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Phil Whitman

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

The Chairman confirmed that this approval was based upon the design; 
specifically that of the roof design and he proposed and requested that if any 
amendment was made to this proposal that it be reported back to the Planning 
Committee.

(h) Narborough: Land to the west of Chalk Lane: Reference: 3PL/2015/1180/O  

Erection of up to 40 dwellings.

Councillor Wilkinson, the Ward Representative, declared that he was aware of 
the application. 

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A late consultation response had been received from the Contaminated Land 
Officer who had asked for a site investigation to be imposed as an additional 
condition.  

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jamie Bird (Blubird Land & 
Planning Ltd)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to:

39



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

1) the completion of a Section 106 Agreement with contributions as set 
out in the report; 

2) the Council’s Planning Manager be given delegated authority to 
refuse the application if the legal formalities in respect of the 
Section 106 Agreement are not completed within three months of 
any resolution; or

3) the Council’s Planning Manager be given the authority to agree 
another more appropriate time scale for the completion of any such 
Agreement; and

4) a site investigation being imposed.

(i) North Elmham: Land adjacent Caberfeidh, Pump Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0040/F  

New bungalow with attached garage.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(j) North Elmham: Land north on Eastgate Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/0057/VAR  

Material amendments to application ref: 3PL/2017/0673/VAR to include 
alterations to the layout of dwelling plots 2, 3 and 4, amendments to the approved 
materials and design of units 3, 4 and 5 and minor alterations to dwelling type C 
(plots 4, 3, 6 and 7) inclusive of revised porch detailing, additional windows and 
minor roof extensions.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations had been received as set out in the supplementary agenda 
(page 298).  

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(k) Roudham/Larling: Land opposite Barkers Farm, Watton Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0359/O  

Outline application for the erection of 2 no. dwellings, shared cart-lodge and new 
highways entrance.

40



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(l) Saham Toney: 112 Hills Road,Saham Hills: Reference: 3PL/2018/0226/F  

Erection of two dwellings with detached carport/garaging with associated drive 
and turning area.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Damian Pond (Studio 35 
Architecture)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(m) Shipdham: The Cricket Players, Old Post Office Street: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0864/F  

This item was deferred (see Minute No. 64/18 above).

(n) Snetterton: Foulger Transport Ltd, Snetterton Circuit, Harling Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0170/F  

New loading canopy.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(o) Stanfield: Church Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/0191/O  

Residential development comprising four dwellings with means of access.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

41



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Roger Duffield

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 5.

The Chairman was entitled to his casting vote and voted that the 
application be refused as recommended.

DECISION: Refused as recommended.

(p) Stow Bedon/Breckles: Pig Patch House, Cartlodge, Mere Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0385/VAR  

Variation of condition 2 on pp 3PL/2015/0461/F – 2 storey dwelling & detached 
cart-lodge – temporary use of cart-lodge to dwelling during construction works.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Planning 
Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval + 1 abstention as 
recommended subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject 
to additional wording to condition no. 10 to read:

‘Cart-lodge to be re-instated prior to the first occupation of the dwelling 
approved or within 3 years whichever comes first’

(q) Swanton Morley: Land South-west of Rectory Road: Reference: 
3OB/2018/0002/OB  

Increase in areas to be transferred to the nominated body in lieu of Norfolk 
County Council.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for the Deed of Variation to be 
allowed as recommended subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(r) Swanton Morley: Land off Rectory Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1546/VAR C  

Variation of condition 12 on pp 3PL/2014/0083/F – amended drainage details.

42



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(s) Thetford: Anchor Place: Reference: 3PL/2018/0227/F  

Amalgamation of units 1, 2, 3 and part of unit 4 and addition of use Class D2 
(gymnasium) to approved use Class A3, A4 and A5 to, change to hours of 
operation, installation of compressors, and other minor external alterations.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report.

(t) Whissonsett: Site to the rear of Queensforth, London Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0235/F  

Proposed residential development consisting of 2 no. one-and-a-half storey 
dwellings with associated garages, parking, amenity space and associated 
works, following the demolition of existing outbuildings (re-submission).

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

69/18FORMAL OBJECTION TO SERVING OF TPO 2018 NO.1 - SCARNING 

RESOLVED that the objection to the serving of Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
2018 No. 1 be determined as follows:

Scarning: 1 Churchill Cottages: Allow TPO to lapse: Applicant: Mr Nicholson

Councillor Duigan declared an interest in the application as he lived in the 
adjacent property.  Councillor Duigan left the room whilst this matter was being 
discussed.

43



Planning Committee
4 June 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Hugh Coggles, Tree & 
Countryside Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the report in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.  

Applicant: Ian Nicholson

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to confirm the Tree Preservation 
Order 2018 No. 1as recommended.

70/18APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 

Noted.

71/18APPEALS SUMMARY 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 2.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

44



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 12 June 2018 at 2.00 pm in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs L.H. Monument

Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton
Mr J. Plaskett

Also Present
Mrs J. Hollis

In Attendance
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Phil Adams - Executive Manager People & Public 

Protection
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Mandy Chenery - Senior Accountant Revenue and Projects
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Faye Haywood - Internal Audit Manager
Emma Hodds - Head of Internal Audit for Breckland Council
Charlotte Paine - Business Intelligence Officer
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)
Rebecca White - CIPFA Trainee Accountant
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
Cliff Jordan  

The Chairman mentioned the sad passing of Cliff Jordan.  He reminded 
Members that he had been the first Councillor to Chair the Governance 
& Audit Committee; he had also been Leader of Breckland Council and 
had been recently re-elected as Leader of Norfolk County Council. He 
would be sadly missed and details of his memorial service would be 
announced shortly.

20/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the Governance & Audit Committee meeting held on 16 
February 2018 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman; subject to the following amendment under Minute No. 8/18, 
fifth paragraph to read:

“Members were assured that the loss for this year would not be 
significant….”

45

Agenda Item 11



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

2

Action By
21/18 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 

(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

None.

22/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

Councillor Hollis, a substitute Member, was in attendance to observe the 
meeting.

23/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

24/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

25/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

None.

26/18 ANNUAL REPORT ON STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS (AGENDA 
ITEM 7) 

The Legal Services Manager presented the report.  

The purpose of the report was to update Members on the work 
undertaken on standards matters and complaints received against 
District, Town and Parish Councillors from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

Members were reminded that at the Full Council meeting on 5 July 2012, 
the arrangements for dealing with complaints against Members had been 
approved in line with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. The 
arrangements were then subsequently updated in 2017.

It was noted that Fiona Anthony, the Council’s Independent Person, 
appointed in July 2012, had tended her resignation and following a 
recruitment exercise, Bob Davis had been appointed as her successor.  
This appointment had been approved at the Full Council meeting on 17 
May 2018. 

Attention was drawn to the details of the number of complaints received 
and the relevant outcomes (page 14 of the agenda).

Councillor Hewett felt that the data provided was very clear and easy to 
understand but wanted to know why the number of complaints had 
increased.  Members were informed that the increase was due to a 
number of complaints relating to specific Parish Councils. 

Mr Plaskett asked what the timescale was from when the initial complaint 
was received.  The Legal Services Manager explained that historically the 
process used to take a great deal longer but now it was anticipated that 

46



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

3

Action By
they could be dealt with in 10 weeks from beginning to end.

In terms of the report, the Chairman felt that it would be helpful to know 
which complaints were outstanding after 3 months.  He also felt that 
further statistical information should be added to highlight any reoccurring 
complainants. In response to the first request, Members were informed 
that another column would be added to the table in future and as far as 
the latter was concerned, Breckland had a vexatious policy which could 
be considered in respect of such complaints if the complainant met the 
criteria under that policy. Councillor Nairn suggested a numeric value 
instead of a percentage value for reoccurring complainants.  Members 
agreed that a numeric value would be preferred.  

RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted. 

SWS

27/18 EMPTY COMMERCIAL UNITS - PERFORMANCE (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Strategic Property Manager provided the Committee with a detailed 
presentation so that Members had a better understanding of how 
Breckland Council dealt with its empty properties.  The presentation 
highlighted the objectives, asset values and yields.  He also explained 
how the poorly performing assets were dealt with (currently there were 13 
assets which had been deemed as poorly performing and due for 
disposal) and how the Team managed the performance of those units.

Councillor Nairn asked if the number mentioned above was industrial or 
retail.  Members were informed that within that 13 a number of them were 
High Street assets and some were office units.

Mr Plaskett referred to the slide that highlighted the fact that 61% of the 
Council’s assets were commercial and asked for the meaning of this in 
terms of numbers.  The Strategic Property Manager advised that 
commercial assets included land and buildings of which 91% were 
currently let.   The Riverside development was also discussed including 
the risks involved in relation to the effect the empty units would have on 
the Council’s financial return.  Such a vast portfolio was a benefit to the 
Council and the fluctuations in the market could be managed to balance 
out the void costs.  In response to a question in relation to the total value 
of Riverside within the £42m, the Chief Accountant said that she would 
have to find out; however, within the Accounts, Riverside was not classed 
as a commercial property.

Councillor Newton asked if there were any incentives being offered to 
encourage tenants to the Riverside site.  Members were informed that 
there was a standard package of support offered alongside every 
commercial unit and interested parties could then seek to negotiate.

The Chairman asked a question around the disposal of the residential 
element.  It was noted that alternative uses would be considered once the 
initial process had been completed.  

The presentation was otherwise noted.

28/18 RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The Senior Business Intelligence Officer presented the revised draft of the 

47



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

4

Action By
Council’s Risk Management Policy to review.

Over the past two years the Governance & Audit Committee Members 
had provided guidance on a number of changes to the way that the 
Council managed and monitored risks – these changes were highlighted.

Mr Plaskett was content with the Policy and was happy for it to be 
approved.

Councillor Hewett mentioned a number of minor typographical errors.

The Chairman thanked Members for all their assistance over the past two 
years and was pleased to recommend the Policy to Cabinet for adoption.

RECOMMEND to Cabinet that the Risk Management Policy be adopted.

CP

29/18 QUARTER 4 2017-18 RISK REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The Senior Business Intelligent Officer informed Members on the current 
status of the Council’s strategic risks.

The Strategic Risk Register included 18 strategic risks (see Appendix A of 
the report).  These covered the over-arching risks that could affect the 
strategic direction of the Council, rather than risks linked to business 
continuity or those that effected discreet service areas.

Councillor Nairn referred to the ICT risk that was currently reported in the 
high risk category, and asked what steps were being taken to minimise 
this risk.  Members were informed that the main factor for the increase 
was the possible threat of malicious cyber activity; however, the Senior 
Business Intelligent Officer was pleased to advise that the Council was 
already on its way of mitigating this activity. 

The Chairman felt that the gender pay gap risk should be moved to an 
operational risk.

Attention was drawn to the Capita risks and these matters were discussed 
in private session following Members’ agreement to the exclusion of press 
and public resolution which the Chairman read aloud.

It was noted that the aforementioned risks were scored by the Executive 
Director of Place who met regularly with Capita and the Operational 
Board.

It was noted that Serco was covered in the Contract Monitoring Risk 
Register.

Mr Plaskett asked if there was a risk involved in relation to the new 
Homelessness Reduction Act.  Members were informed that there was an 
element of reputational risk in respect of lack of resource.  The Executive 
Manager, People & Protection explained that the Homelessness Act 
affected the whole country but as a District, Breckland would only be 
dealing with homelessness within its borders and even though additional 
resource was being provided the demand and burden would be greater.  
The Executive Director for Commercialisation & S151 Officer explained 
that the Act had put a greater duty on Councils to assist with the 

CP

48



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

5

Action By
prevention of homelessness. Councillor Newton asked what the impact 
would be on the provision of social housing.  Members were informed that 
the risk had increased due to the impact on resource which was being 
dealt with under the New Burden’s Fund.

The content of the report was otherwise noted.

30/18 2017-18 DRAFT UN-AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

The Chief Accountant presented the draft un-audited Statement of 
Accounts for 2017-18 and the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 
comments and information. 

A detailed presentation was provided.

It was noted that the Management Accounts had not been included in the 
Statement as has this had been covered at the earlier Cabinet meeting.  

Members were informed that the audit of the accounts commenced on 21 
May 2018 and would be reported back to the Governance & Audit 
Committee meeting in July.

The Balance Sheet at 1.6 of the report was highlighted and explained.  

Mr Plaskett had many questions to ask as follows:

Q - Page 65 – what was the reason for the significant increase in the 
Growth & Commercialisation Directorate budget?

A - There were two reasons for this change; the first was due to the 
ARP Enforcement Service which had grown extensively for 2017-
18 and the second reason the Council’s commercial property had 
gained additional rental income.

Q - Also on page 65 – the retained NNDR increase?

A - This increase was due to the Snetterton Biomass Plant which 
came on-line in 2017-18 and would continue; however, £600k had 
been set aside in Reserves for any appeals. 

Councillor Nairn asked about Necton substation.  Members were informed 
that this had been included in the budget for the current year but only for 
part of the year.  The NNDR retention would not be as much as 
Snetterton. 

Q - Page 66 – Revenue Support Grant

A - Revenue Support Grant used to be significantly higher and is 
reducing and the year after next it could be nil.

Q - Page 71 – query on the increases and decreases

A  - the signage was incorrect and would be amended accordingly.

Q – Page 74 – typo on 3rd sentence ‘until 2021-21’

AC

49



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

6

Action By

A - This would be corrected.

Q - Page 76 – slight confusion between the Corporate Risk Register 
and the Strategic Risk Register.

A - The wording would be changed accordingly.

Q - Page 80 – cost of services in relation to the Growth & 
Commercialisation Directorate?

A - This was due to the downward revaluation of surplus assets in 
2017/18 compared to the upward valuation in 2016/17.  This could 
be a little misleading as the valuation basis is ‘highest and best 
use’ which is not the market value.

The Chairman said that it was the definition of best use.  The Chief 
Accountant advised that it was an accountancy treatment.

Q - Page 82 – the column, ‘Unusable Reserves’ for the 16-17 year.

A - This was due to the massive change in pensions valuation.

Q - Page 85 – why were the numbers so big?

A - Due to more short term investments rather than using Money 
Market Funds.

The Chairman pointed out that this was about counting the same pound 
over and over again as it was counted each time a new short term 
investment was made.  The Executive Director for Commercialisation & 
S151 Officer explained that this depended on what how the cash market 
was performing.

Q - Page 99 – explain the net change between the 2 years.

A - This was due to accounting adjustments such as re-valuations 
rather than ‘real’ spend – the accounting value for this year 
was different to the previous year.

Q - Page 100 – Note 4 – employee benefits increased by 18%.

A - Due to Breckland being a shared Council; Breckland Council had 
more employees compared to its partners but their share of the 
costs are recharged.

Q - Pages 102/103

A - This was about reversing everything that had not gone through the 
Council Tax.  

The Chief Accountant said that she would be happy to go through this in 
more detail with Mr Plaskett after the meeting.

Q - Page 104 – Match Funding

AC

AC

50



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

7

Action By
A - Match-Funding was about bids that the Council matched.  A 

review had been undertaken during 2017/18 and a decision had 
been made to take money out of this pot and put it elsewhere in 
the Growth & Investment Reserve.

Q - Page 106 – current service costs

A - AC to investigate as this information came from the Council’s 
Actuaries. 

Q - Page 110 – surplus assets £6.7m

A - The Chairman these included the Councils Riverside investment 
at Thetford.

Q - Page 111 - minor typo – heading 6th column.

Q - Page 116 – under short term investments, the difference between 
the 2 years not very good

A - The investments all follow the Treasury Policy with security 
coming first, there are better longer term rates available, but many 
are property backed and we already have our own investment 
properties so wouldn’t want to invest further in this area, to 
keep our portfolio diversified. Under the Treasury Management 
Policy the Council was able to invest up to £5m for over one-year.

The Chairman pointed out that the Treasury Management Policy was part 
of the Governance & Audit Committee’s remit.

Q - Page 122 – Revaluation of (gains)/losses on property, plant and 
equipment

A - The figures were in relation to Riverside

Q - Page 125 – should it read the Executive Manager?

A - This will be amended

Q - Page 141 – Collection Fund - no entries/lack of figures under 
Income

A - The Collection Fund Revenue Account is estimated compared to 
actuals.  In 2016/17 there were many NNDR appeals in relation to 
GP surgeries and the deficit has to be repaid.  It was noted that 
NCC received 75% of Council Tax collected.

Other questions/concerns related to the narrative on page 60 where it 
mentioned the number of planning applications that had been granted; the 
question asked was should the number of dwellings be added too.

Further to the above, the Chairman drew attention to page 59 and felt that 
the age bands should be displayed/calculated in 5 year segments. 
Councillor Monument suggested having the age structure chart in 15 year 
age bands – 0 – 15, 15 – 29 etc and explained the reasons for this 
suggestion.

AC

AC

AC

AC

51



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

8

Action By

Councillor Hewett asked if there was a need to disclose the gender pay 
gap.  In response, the Chief Accountant said that this could be added.  
Councillor Hewett also asked, and wanted it minuted, that he found the 
wording within the top box under mitigation on page 75 very confusing.  
Overall, he had found some real issues in terms of what was negative and 
what was positive.

Councillor Hewett referred to page 117 and felt that under ‘Short Term 
Debtors’ was worth another sentence as there was no real need to show 
it.

The Chairman had noticed that on the Collection Rate had gone down on 
page 55.  Members were informed that this did fluctuate each year but not 
by much.  The Chairman asked if there was a set of benchmark figures 
that could sit beside that.  The Chairman also asked if it was still sensible 
to remain part of the Business Rate Pool.  The Chief Accountant advised 
that it had been really good for Breckland thus far but it would be difficult 
to predict the future.  

The Chairman asked if information could be provided in relation to the 
Business Rate Pool for discussion at a future meeting.

The Chief Accountant reported that an objection to the Statement of 
Accounts had already been received and would be responded to 
accordingly.

Under the Annual Governance Statement, Mr Plaskett had noticed a 
typographical error on page 164 and also on this page he asked whether 
the Business Continuity Plan Framework had been completed by the date 
shown.  Members were informed that this would be investigated.  He 
further asked why cyber security had not been mentioned under the 
Auditors Notes.    The Head of Internal Audit explained that this had been 
picked up in the Annual Report and Opinion to be discussed later on in 
the agenda.  She had, however, given this a limited assurance but had 
been very happy with the progress and the risk would be amended to 
reflect mitigations.   The Executive Director of Commercialisation & S151 
Officer advised that this risk should be worded accordingly.  It was 
pointed out that this issue did not exist at the point of the Statement of 
Accounts and should be flagged up as a risk not as an audit issue.

On pages 168 and 169, the Internal Audit Consortium Manager would be 
changed to the Head of Internal Audit.

Subject to the aforementioned amendments, it was

RESOLVED that:

1. the un-audited Statement of Accounts for 2017-18 be noted; and

2. the Annual Governance Statement for 2017-18 be noted.

AC

AC

AC

AC

AC

EH

AC

31/18 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY (AGENDA 
ITEM 12) 

Faye Haywood, an Internal Audit Manager was introduced to Members.  

52



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

9

Action By
Faye would be working alongside Emma Hodds, the Head of Internal 
Audit in future.

The Head of Internal Audit presented the report.

The Governance & Audit Committee received updates on progress made 
against the annual Internal Audit Plan.  The report formed part of the 
overall reporting requirements to assist the Council in discharging its 
responsibilities in relation to internal audit activity.

Attention was drawn to the significant changes to the approved Internal 
Audit Plan (see page 173 of the agenda pack).

The Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) audits have been completed by 
all partners of the ARP.  The Heads of Internal Audit (or equivalent) have 
been working in partnership to ensure that the ARP was only audited 
once each financial year for each service area, i.e. Council Tax, National 
Non Domestic Rates, benefits etc.  A review of this process would take 
place later in the year.

Attention was drawn to the nine assurance reports highlighted on page 
175 of the agenda pack.  Three areas had been given limited assurance, 
Environmental Protection, Private Sector Housing and Cybersecurity and 
these had been picked up in the Annual Report and Opinion Plan 2017/18 
accordingly. 

Councillor Monument asked a question in relation to the expansion of 
self-service mentioned under the action points on page 176 of the agenda 
pack.  Members were informed that this was about offering staff self-
service options in relation to overtime and sickness absence recording on 
iTrent.

Mr Plaskett raised a concern in relation to private water supplies that had 
been picked up under the assurance report for Environmental Protection.  
It was confirmed that that the five priority 2 recommendations had been 
agreed with management, one of which had already been implemented 
and the remaining recommendations were work in progress and were due 
to be fully implemented by the end of June 2018. The Head of Internal 
Audit would keep a close eye on the progress of the team with these 
important recommendations. 

Councillor Hewett wanted to know what the Pentana Performance system 
was.  Members were informed that Pentana Performance was the new 
name for Covalent software.

RESOLVED that the outcomes of the eleven audits completed by TIAA, 
the outcomes of the ARP audits and the amendments to the 2017/18 
Internal Audit Plan be agreed.

32/18 ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2017/18 (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The order of the agenda was changed slightly so that Agenda item 14 
was discussed before Agenda item 13.

The Head of Internal Audit presented the report.  The report provided 
Members with an Annual Report and Opinion for 2017/18, drawing upon 

53



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

10

Action By
the outcomes of Internal Audit work performed over the course of the 
year.  The report also concluded on the Effectiveness of Internal Audit.

Attention was drawn to the Opinion itself on page 222 of the Agenda 
pack. The overall opinion in relation to the framework of governance, risk 
management and controls at Breckland Council was reasonable; 
however, comments made by the Head of Internal Audit at paragraph 3.6 
of the report required consideration for inclusion in the Annual 
Governance Statement.  The issues highlighted by the Head of Internal 
Audit related to the Private Sector Housing review and the ARP Council 
Tax audit review, and the related audit recommendations. 

In response to a question by the Chairman, an interim report would be 
brought back to a future meeting.

Councillor Hewett was very content with the format of Appendix 2 of the 
report as it highlighted where the ‘hotspots’ were emerging.

RESOLVED that, subject to an amendment to page 228 under 5.2.2 to 
read 2018 instead of 2017, the following recommendations be agreed:

1) the contents of the Annual Report and Opinion of the Head of 
Internal Audit;

2) the reasonable audit opinion that had been given in relation to 
governance, risk management and control for the year ended 31 
March 2018;

3) the opinions expressed together with significant matters arising 
from internal audit work and contained within this report and when 
developing and reviewing the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement for 2017/18;

4) the conclusions of the Review of the Effectiveness of Internal 
Audit.

EH

33/18 FOLLOW UP REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 
(AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The order of the agenda was changed slightly so that this agenda item 
was discussed before agenda item 13.

The Head of Internal Audit presented the report.  The report provided 
Members with the position on the progress made by Management in 
implementing agreed Internal Audit recommendations as at 31 March 
2018.

Attention was drawn to page 239 of the agenda pack which showed the 
year end position.  The three outstanding recommendations from 2014/15 
audits had now been implemented.

In relation to the recommendations raised in 2015/16 there were now five 
outstanding, and in relation to those raised in 2016/17 three were now 
outstanding. Management responses were provided to explain the revised 
deadline dates. 

54



Governance & Audit Committee
12 June 2018

11

Action By
In 2017/18 Internal Audit had raised 77 recommendations, 28 of which 
had already been implemented by the agreed date, three of which were 
still outstanding (two important and one needs attention) and the 
remaining 45 were not yet due.  One ‘priority three’ recommendation had 
been rejected by Management and would therefore not be followed up; 
the reason for this had previously been provided to the Committee.  The 
Management responses could be seen at Appendix 4 of the report.

The Chairman queried the cancellation of the Ocella User Group meeting 
in February 2018 and felt that four months was far too long to wait for the 
meeting to be held.  The Executive Director of Commercialisation & S151 
Officer said that she would investigate.

The report was to note and the Chairman felt that all future reports should 
be agreed, not just to note.

It was proposed that the recommendations for this report and the previous 
report should be changed to ‘agreed’.

RESOLVED that the contents of the report be agreed.

CM

EH

34/18 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

Councillor Newton thanked the Head of Internal Audit for the informal 
training that she had provided.

35/18 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

Noted.

36/18 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

Councillor Hewett conveyed his apologies for the next meeting in July.  
Councillor Monument was unsure that she would be able to attend but 
would let the Dems Services Officer know in due course.

The arrangements for the next meeting on Friday, 13 July 2018 at 10am 
in the Norfolk Room were noted.

JB

The meeting closed at 4.45 pm

CHAIRMAN

55



Document is Restricted

56

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

68

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Cabinet Minutes
	Minutes

	10a Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 8 May 2018
	Minutes

	10b Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 4 June 2018
	Minutes

	11 Governance & Audit Committee
	Minutes

	17 Breckland Bridge Business Plan Update
	Appendix A Business Plan Activity
	Appendix B Financial Information
	Appendix C Risk Log
	Appendix D Risk Review


